IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LIONEL MILLER,)
)
)
Appellant,)
)
VS.) CASE NUMBER SC08-287
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
A 11 \)
Appellee.)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Counsel will refer to the appropriate volume number using a Roman

numeral followed by the pertinent page number using Arabic numerals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 16, 2006, the spring term grand jury returned an indictment charging Lionel Miller, the appellant, with the first-degree murder of Jerry Smith; the attempted first-degree murder of Larry Haydon; one count of burglary of a dwelling with a battery therein; and one count of attempted robbery with a deadly weapon. (III 334-37) On May 30, 2006, the state filed their notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (III 343)

Prior to trial, appellant filed numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme based on both the federal and the state constitutions. (*See, e.g.*, III 408-447; IV 514-535, 538-577, 642-645, 646-660; V 661-734, 810-25; VI 885-92, 893-900, 904-937, 938-968, 969-1006; VII 1107-1139, 1172-81) None of these challenges were successful. Appellant constantly and repeatedly renewed his objections to Florida's capital sentencing scheme throughout the proceedings below.

Appellant also filed a motion to suppress his statement made to police during interrogation. (V 779-80) Following a hearing, the trial court denied the motion. (I 131-89; V 1010-11)

A jury trial commenced on November 13, 2007. (X 1 through XVII 1313) During jury selection, the trial court granted the state's cause challenge of venireman Eddington over appellant's objection. (X 70-81)

During the guilt/innocence phase, trial counsel moved for a mistrial and repeatedly objected to any reference that the crimes occurred on Easter. (XIII 599-600, 685-87, 701; XIV 722, 852; XVII 1260-61) The trial court also allowed over objection testimony that the victim's son is a practicing local lawyer. (XIV 714-16) The motions were denied and the objections were overruled. Following deliberations, the jury found appellant guilty as charged on all four counts. (VIII 1241-45)

On November 26, 2007, a penalty phase commenced. (XVIII 1318; XIX 1621) The trial court overruled appellant's numerous objections to the state's evidence regarding appellant's prior violent felony conviction for manslaughter. (XVIII 1348-62)

At the charge conference of the penalty phase, the trial court overruled appellant's objection to the jury instruction on the witness elimination/avoid arrest aggravating factor. The trial court ruled there was sufficient evidence to justify a jury instruction. (XIX 1542-44) The prosecutor argued the circumstance, the trial judge instructed the jury, but ultimately rejected the factor as unproven. (IX 1411-12; XIX 1575-78, 1606) The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven to one. (XIX 1115-19; VIII 1268)

The trial court imposed a death sentence and found six aggravating factors. The court found:

 under a sentence of imprisonment (great weight);
 prior violent felony conviction (great weight);
 during the commission or attempted commission of robbery or burglary (great weight);
 especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (great weight); and
 the victim was particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability (great weight).

(IX 1407-19) The trial court specifically rejected the aggravating factor

dealing with witness elimination or avoiding arrest. (IX 1411-12) The trial

court also rejected the "financial gain" aggravating circumstance, finding it

duplicative of another aggravating factor. (IX 1412)

The trial court considered but rejected appellant's age (58) as a

mitigating circumstance. (IX 1419-20) The trial court found the following

mitigating circumstances established by the evidence:

(1) dysfunctional family (some weight);
 (2) military service (little weight);
 (3) cooperation with law enforcement (little weight);
 (4) appellant's remorse (very little weight);
 (5) appellant's antisocial personality disorder (little weight); and
 (6) long history of substance abuse (some weight).

(IX 1420-24) The trial court specifically rejected as mitigation appellant's ability to perform well in prison. (IX 1421) The trial court sentenced appellant to three terms of "natural life" on the noncapital felonies. (IX

1426-59) Appellant filed a notice of appeal on February 18, 2008. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT/INNOCENCE PHASE

The Murder

Jerry Smith, the victim in this case, was an elderly woman suffering from Alzheimers. Although physically healthy, she suffered from memory problems. (XIII 621-23) She had moved into a home in the quiet neighborhood of Delaney Park in Orlando. Her son, Chris Smith, a local criminal defense lawyer, lived nearby with his family. On Easter Sunday, April 16, 2006, Jerry Smith had celebrated the holiday with her son and his family before returning to her home that evening. (XIV 717-23) Shortly before 9:00 p.m., the peace and quiet of an idyllic Easter was shattered.

Larry Haydon, Jerry Smith's neighbor, was walking his dog that evening. As he passed in front of Smith's home, he heard screams. He saw Smith struggling with a strange man in her living room. Haydon entered the front door and rushed to Smith's aid. Smith's attacker, who Haydon identified as Lionel Miller, the appellant, proceeded to stab Haydon in the chest with the fish filet knife that he wielded. Appellant's attack on Haydon allowed Smith to temporarily escape through her back door. Appellant pursued Smith into the backyard where he apparently stabbed her and, in the process, cut himself before fleeing the neighborhood. (XIII 624-28)

Both Smith and Haydon ran next door for help. Smith's next-door neighbor, as well as other neighbors who heard the ruckus, summoned both medical and police assistance. (XIII 626-30, 673-78, 685-87, 701-705) Haydon subsequently recovered from his wounds, while Jerry Smith did not.

Jerry Smith died as a result of three stab wounds; one to the left back that went through the chest cavity and through the diaphragm into the spleen; a second wound to the interior right hip that penetrated the abdomen, nicked the colon and large intestine; and a third wound that went completely through her right arm. (XVI 1086-87) Following emergency surgery at the hospital, doctors pronounced Smith dead at approximately 11:00 p.m. (XVI 1085-86) Smith's body showed signs that were consistent with a struggle. (XVI 1087-94)

Physical evidence tied appellant to the scene of the crime. State forensic experts found one of appellant's fingerprints at Smith's home as well as blood on her dining room floor that appeared to match Miller's. (XVI 1033-49, 1059-60) Jerry Smith's jacket was found at Stephen Prange's house, where Prange testified that Miller left it. (XV 107-10, 1121)

Events Leading to the Murder

David Dempsey¹, a six-time convicted felon and crack addict, met Lionel "Mike" Miller, the appellant through a mutual friend. On Friday, April 14, 2006, Dempsey agreed to drive Miller in a search for a check that appellant expected in the mail². During their search for the mailman along his route, the pair stopped and chatted with Jerry Smith, who was doing yard work at her house. The pair noticed that she wore a lot of jewelry, and that she seemed to suffer from some mental confusion. They decided that she would be an easy mark to rob. (XV 863-71)

On Saturday April 15, 2006, appellant and Dempsey woke up at the house where they were both staying. Appellant told Dempsey that he had spent all of his money on drugs, beer, and cigarettes the day before. Appellant asked Dempsey to drive him over to Jerry Smith's house so that he could rob her. Dempsey made excuses and left the crack house for the day. (XV 873-74) The scenario repeated itself the next day on Sunday morning. (XV 873-75) Dempsey again made excuses and expressed a desire to be no part of appellant's plan. (XV 875)

¹ Dempsey was on probation for dealing in stolen property at the time he testified. He had tested positive for drugs during his probationary period, but swore that he received no promises from the State of Florida in exchange for his testimony. (XV 871-73)

² Appellant had recently moved from his prior address.

After eating breakfast, Dempsey got back on the couch and took a nap. When he woke up, the appellant was no longer home. Around 9:00 that evening, appellant called Dempsey at the house and asked him to pick him up at a friend's³ house. He also asked Dempsey to bring with him a denim, long-sleeved shirt from appellant's closet. When Dempsey picked appellant up at Steve's house, appellant got in the car and immediately changed his shirt. Dempsey did not notice any injuries at that time. The pair returned to the home that they shared and went to sleep. (XV 875-78) When Dempsey questioned him, appellant was vague about his activities that day. Appellant told Dempsey that some guy tried to be a hero and that his hero days were over. (XV 880) Later that night, Dempsey noticed that appellant had two bandages on his left arm and that they were saturated with blood. (XV 878-79)

A few days later, Dempsey became suspicious that Miller had attacked Smith. When he confronted Miller, appellant told Dempsey that everything that could go wrong did go wrong. (XV 879) Appellant warned Dempsey about telling anybody. (XV 880-82) Dempsey eventually called the police, who arrested appellant at the house. (XV 882-87)

³ Miller had sought refuge at Stephen Prange's house. Miller told Prange he had been injured when two men mugged him. Prange subsequently reported Miller to police for the \$5,000 reward. (XV 824-51)

Appellant's Statement

Following his arrest, on April 19, 2006, Officer Boren escorted the appellant from the back parking lot of the Orlando police station to an interview room. While waiting for the primary detective to conduct the interrogation, appellant asked for a cigarette and a Coke which Boren provided. After leaving appellant in the interview room for approximately twenty minutes, Boren returned to check on the appellant and to give him a pack of cigarettes. At that point, appellant told Boren that he normally did not talk to police without counsel, but that he was "tired of the life he was living and wanted to tell us everything that happened". Appellant wanted two things in return. Appellant asked to be placed in a cell by himself until the time of his execution. He also wanted his cell phone so that he could provide phone numbers of drug dealers to assist police in their arrest. (XV) 974-78)

After appellant's conversation with Boren, Detectives Joel Wright and Mike Moreschi conducted an interview. After making reference to *Miranda*⁴ warnings read from a card⁵, Lionel Miller stated that he understood the warnings and was willing to talk to police. Miller told the detectives that on April 14, 2006, he and David Dempsey attempted to track

⁴ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

down a mailman on his route so that Miller could get his unemployment check. Miller had been evicted from the residence where the check had been mailed. Before locating the mailman, the pair met Jerry Smith who was working in her front yard that day. After talking to Smith for several minutes, the pair realized that she had problems with her memory and seemed confused. They decided that she would be an easy mark for the theft of her jewelry. Miller opined that she would not be able to identify them because of her cognitive skills. The pair subsequently found the mailman, got the check, and got high smoking crack cocaine. The robbery was forgotten about until the following Sunday.

Two days later, Dempsey was unavailable to drive Miller to Smith's house, so he walked over intending to steal something of value. During the walk, Miller smoked crack cocaine and got high. He had no intention of hurting Smith. Smith invited Miller into her home, got him a glass of ice water, and discussed Key West as a travel destination. After a short chat, Miller grabbed Smith and threw her down on the couch. Smith screamed loudly when he asked for her rings. During the struggle, a neighbor heard the screams and attempted to come to Smith's aid. Miller was frightened

⁵ The preamble and *Miranda* warnings were not recorded by the detectives.

that the neighbor would choke him using the belt he was carrying⁶. Miller also feared a return to prison if caught. Miller grabbed the fish filet knife⁷ from his back pocket and stabbed the neighbor in the chest.

While Miller was dealing with her neighbor, Smith was able to run out the back door screaming. Miller eventually followed her outside. When Smith kept screaming, Miller "just lost it". All he wanted to silence her screams. Losing all control, Miller began stabbing her. "I don't even know where I stabbed her or how many times or anything." After Smith went silent for a minute, Miller ran back into the house before he realized he had also been cut and was bleeding profusely. He grabbed Smith's jacket and wrapped it around his arm to stop the bleeding. He then ran out the back door, jumped the fence, and somehow found a shortcut around the lake and out of the neighborhood. He fled empty-handed. Miller then went to his friend Steve's house, called Dempsey, and asked him to bring a shirt when he came to pick him up. (XVI 1133-52) After giving his statement to the detectives, they escorted Miller out of the police station in a traditional "perp walk." (XIV 817) Miller told the excited reporters that he did not mean to hurt "that woman."

⁶ The "belt" was actually a dog leash.

⁷ Miller carried the knife as a potential burglary tool.

PENALTY PHASE

The State's Case for Aggravation

The state presented evidence regarding appellant's prior violent felony convictions. Miller pleaded guilty in Oregon to manslaughter in 1976. The manslaughter conviction arose from an argument that Miller had with an acquaintance, Ed Huff-Smith. Huff-Smith was a tenant at the rooming house where Miller was living in Portland Oregon. Several days prior to the shooting, appellant and Huff-Smith argued about Huff-Smith's theft of Miller's paint thinner, which Miller had been huffing.

Miller and Huff-Smith argued again a few days later over an unrelated matter. During the physical altercation, appellant kicked Huff-Smith who then drove for a gun that was kept under the couch. Appellant was able to retrieve the gun first and shot Huff-Smith, who then ran from the dwelling before falling outside. Appellant dragged the victim back into the apartment where he quickly expired. In fear of his parole being violated, appellant unsuccessfully tried to hid the body in the closet. Admitting that he was confused and scared, appellant stole the victim's car and fled the scene. He was arrested after he inhaled lacquer thinner, passed out and ran off the road. (XVIII 1352-62, 1386-87) The state also presented testimony that appellant committed an armed robbery of a grocery store in Oregon. (XVIII 1416-26)

Appellant was still on parole at the time of Jerry Smith's murder. (XVIII 1338-45)

Victim Impact Evidence

The way that Jerry Smith died was her absolute worst nightmare. She was very afraid of crime in general, and burglaries in particular. Her family told her that she lived in a safe neighborhood and that nothing bad would ever happen to her in Delaney Park. They teased her about her cautiousness when it came to leaving her door locked. (VIII 1399, 1405)

Jerry Smith was a genteel, southern lady. She was an avid golfer, shopper, and traveler in her youth. She always kept a champion poodle as her pet. She moved from her home of thirty years in order to help her son raise his children. She spoiled her grandchildren terribly. She kept an immaculate house.

When she began to lose her memory, her son arranged for her to move into a home on his street. Jerry spent Easter Sunday, the day of her murder, with her family. The family went to church together and had Sunday brunch. She then watched her grandchildren play in the park.

Smith's death had a tremendous impact on her family. Her grandchildren are to young to understand what happened to their grandmother. Smith's daughter-in-law keeps imagining the last thoughts of

pain and fear that she must have suffered. Smith's sister became depressed and withdrawn and moved across the country to a different state. (XVIII 1395-1401) Jerry Smith and her sister spoke everyday on the phone. Although she had lived in Florida for fifty years, Smith's sister sold her home and returned to Tennessee because she could no longer stand to live in Florida after her sister's murder. (XVIII 1403)

Jerry Smith was a divorced woman who raised her son alone. She built a career in a title agency during a time when women in management were the exception. Having grown up in the depression, she learned to work hard and to be self-reliant. Smith's son, a local lawyer, could not begin to quantify or explain how the loss of his mother has impacted him and the rest of her family. One of her son's biggest regret was his inability to reach out and touch his mother one last time before the paramedics took her away never to be seen by him again. (XVIII 1402-5)

Appellant's Case in Mitigation

Lionel Miller had a very unstable family background. His mother drank heavily, used drugs, and abandoned him when he was very young. Miller was left with his stepfather, who ejected him from the house when Miller was approximately five years old. He eventually lived with his step-

grandmother from the ages of seven to thirteen.⁸ This was the most stable period of his childhood. Unfortunately, she died when he was in reform school. After leaving reform school at age fifteen, Miller was left to fend for himself. (XIX 1442-1446)

Miller began using drugs at an early age.⁹ As an adolescent, he used heroin, cocaine, alcohol, methamphetamine, and numerous other drugs. Throughout his incarcerations, Miller had been evaluated and diagnosed with polysubstance abuse or polysubstance dependance, as well as an antisocial personality disorder.¹⁰ He spent the vast majority of his adult life in prison.¹¹ (XIX 1446-47) He went to prison for the first time at approximately at age sixteen. He was able to achieve only a seventh grade education, but did obtain his GED later in prison. (XIX 1446) There was no evidence that Miller had been disciplined in prison for any violent incidents. (XIX 1467)

⁸ Miller's mother apparently died as a result of alcoholism. No one knew much about his biological father. (XIX 1415)

⁹ Appellant's crack pipe was found at the scene of the crime. This would be consistent with the expert's opinion that Miller was addicted to and/or using crack cocaine at the time of the murder. (XIX 1496)

¹⁰ While one can inherit an antisocial propensity, Miller's childhood background was also conducive to his development of an antisocial personality disorder. (XIX 1450)

¹¹ People with antisocial personality generally perform better in a structured environment like prison, rather than out in a free society. Appellant demonstrated this trait. (XIX 1452-53, 1505)

Drew Edwards, an expert in addictionology, explained the devastating effect of cocaine addiction. Long-term cocaine use leads to brain damage due to the release of neurotransmitters, particularly dopamine, the pleasure chemical. Addicts end up "chasing the high" just to feel normal rather than depressed and anxious. Addiction also affects the flight or fight response which is associated with impulsive actions. Cocaine increases one's angst and tension, thus leading to impulsive acts. Some addicts end up committing desperate acts in their attempt to get drugs.¹² (XIX 1471-79) In addition to crack cocaine, the appellant used lots of methamphetamine. Methamphetamine has a similar impact on the brain as cocaine. (XIX 1483)

Lionel Michael Miller had been diagnosed as polysubstance dependant since adolescence. He had also been diagnosed as suffering from an antisocial personality disorder. (XIX 1488) Miller began drinking alcohol frequently at the age of thirteen. At sixteen, he began using amphetamines. At age seventeen, he began smoking marijuana on a daily basis. At age eighteen, he began using barbiturates, specifically Seconal. At nineteen, he tried LSD which he used daily for a couple of years. At that same age, he tried hallucinogenic mushrooms (PCP), but did not like the

¹² Laboratory testing reveals that rats, as well as other animals prefer cocaine to food. Given the choice, the animals will consume cocaine until the point of death. (XIX 1486-87)

effect. He also began using crystal methamphetamine at that time. At age twenty-three, he discovered heroin which he enjoyed more than any other drug. He began injecting heroin on a daily basis. He subsequently advanced to injecting speed balls, a potent mixture of heroin and cocaine.¹³ Miller also feigned pain so that doctors prescribed narcotics, which he then abused. In 1969, he began using inhalants, particularly a dry cleaning fluid called percoethylene. He also enjoyed sniffing glue and lacquer thinner, which he would inhale to the point of passing out. (XIX 1489-90)

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