IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-287

LIONEL MILLER

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

WILLIAM McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." To ensure compliance with the privilege against self-incrimination, the United States Supreme Court outlined in <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u> four procedural safeguards that must be employed to protect the privilege when an individual has been deprived of freedom during a custodial interrogation:

He must be warned prior to any questioning that [1] he has the right to remain silent, [2] that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, [3] that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and [4] that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires.

384 U.S. at 479. These protections were designed to help prevent an individual's will from being overborne in an custodial interrogation. Id. at 469-70.

The U.S. Supreme Court held that <u>Miranda</u>'s reference to "a fully effective equivalent" meant that "Miranda itself indicated that no talismanic incantation was required to satisfy its strictures." <u>California v. Prysock</u>, 453 U.S. 355, 359(1981). The Court rejected any suggestion of a "desirable rigidity in the form of the required warnings" regarding whether the advice about the availability of appointed counsel was inadequate because the defendant "was not explicitly informed of his right to have an attorney appointed before further questioning." <u>Id.</u> That same Court later stated: "Reviewing courts . . . need not examine Miranda warnings as if construing a will or defining the terms of an easement. The inquiry is simply whether the warnings reasonably 'conve[y] to [a suspect] his rights as required by Miranda."" <u>Duckworth v. Eagan</u>, 492 U.S. 195, 203(1989)(quoting Prysock, 453 U.S. at 361).

This Court has adopted similar standards to ensure the voluntariness of confession to comply with both the U.S. and article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution. <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957, 966 (Fla. 1992) outlined the

following rights Florida suspects must be told of prior to custodial interrogation:

[1] they have a right to remain silent, [2] that anything they say will be used against them in court, [3] that they have a right to a lawyer's help, 2 and [4] that if they cannot pay for a lawyer one will be appointed to help them.

In keeping with <u>Prysock</u> and <u>Duckworth</u> this Court in <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 863 So. 2d 169, 182 (Fla. 2003) stated: "Although Miranda warnings must be given to suspects before custodial interrogation can begin, there is no talismanic fashion in which they must be read or a prescribed formula that they must follow, as long as the warnings are not misleading."

On the basis of <u>State v. Powell</u>, 998 So.2d 531 (Fla. 2008) Miller argues that the advisements given here provide "a narrower and less functional warning than required by <u>Miranda</u>." <u>Id.</u> 1064. In <u>Powell</u> the warnings did not specifically advise that a defendant had the right to have an attorney present during questioning. Miller concedes that Wright advised him of that particular right. He argues that the advisement should also have included that an attorney would be provided both before and during questioning free of charge. He is asking this Court to create a talismanic invocation. He argues that Miller may have decided to request a lawyer and then was confused over whether he could get one mid stream. Given Miller's statements to both Boren and then the media, the record clearly shows in this case that his desire to talk is what prompted him to make the statement and he knew what he was doing. His statement was freely and voluntarily given as the trial court properly found.

Furthermore, the Orlando Police Department's <u>Miranda</u> advisements do not suffer the defects discussed in <u>Powell</u>. They reasonably conveyed Miller's <u>Miranda</u> rights and in no way misled him. Miller was told of his right to have an attorney appointed, a right he mentioned that he had exercised a number of times in his criminal past. On the basis of these warnings, he, and any other defendant, knew that he could have an attorney at all stages of the interview and that one would be provided for free. This Court has also stated: "We must keep in mind that the reason for informing individuals of their rights before questioning is to ensure that statements made during custodial interrogation are given voluntarily, not to prevent individuals from ever making these statements without first consulting counsel." <u>Sapp v. State</u>, 690 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1997).

Even if this Court finds the warnings deficient, any error was harmless. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." <u>Id.; Hamilton v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1989). There was overwhelming evidence of Miller's guilt. Dempsey testified about how and where Miller met Smith. He told about Smith's jewelry and memory problems and how Miller wished to rob her. Miller

left on his own Sunday morning after he tried to get Dempsey to help him. Miller called him later that night to pick him up. When Dempsey arrived, he saw Miller's cuts. Miller later told him that everything went wrong and that he had to stop a hero. Miller also repeatedly warned him not to say anything to the police. (T: 863-914)

Haydon saw Miller in Smith house struggling with her. Miller attacked and stabbed him before following Smith out the back. Smith showed up moments later at her neighbor's house, stabbed and covered in blood. (T: 621-673) Miller left his crack pipe, fingerprints, and blood in Smith's house. (T: 937, 961, 1039, 1057, 1062) Ramee saw a man rushing oddly through the park just after the time of the crime. (T: 916-923) Miller left Smith's jacket in Prange's house after leaving shortly after the crime. (T: 845-49, 1004-21) The police found his knife sheath in the park. (T: 925) Smith's body had defensive cuts and bruising on it as well as bruising from where her jewelry had been pulled at. (T: 1082-1114) Given the amount of evidence against Miller, any error in admitting his statement was harmless. Additionally, as shown above, the details of the planning and the execution of these crimes were provided in substantial part by other witnesses. In his statement Miller was self-serving, trying to minimize his culpability when

describing how he tried to take her jewelry and then how he stabbed both Haydon and Smith. Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should affirm.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY THAT THE CRIME OCCURRED ON EASTER AND THAT THE VICTIM'S SON WAS AN ATTORNEY.

Miller next argues that the trial court erred in allowing the fact that the crime took place on Easter to come before the jury through various witnesses. He also contends that it was error to allow Chris Smith to say he was an attorney. He asserts that both are irrelevant and overly prejudicial. He argues the jury might believe in Miller's guilt simply because of the career of the victim's son. Beyond merely asserting it Miller fails to demonstrate how the fact that Miller chose to commit these crimes on a holiday prejudiced him. As such he has failed to adequately plead it and the claim should be denied. Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived). The State submits that this evidence was not unduly prejudicial and the trial court properly admitted it. The claim should be denied.

As provided in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 967 So.2d 735, 753 (Fla. 2007): "The Evidence Code provides that "[a]ll relevant evidence is admissible, except as provided by law." §90.402, Fla. Stat. (2006). The Code places the following

limitation on the admission of evidence: 'Relevant evidence is inadmissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of issues, misleading the jury, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.' § 90.403, Fla. Stat. (2006). The standard of review for a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is abuse of discretion. See Alston, 723 So.2d at 156." "A trial court has wide discretion in areas concerning the admission of evidence, and, unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its rulings will not be disturbed." San Martin v. State, 717 So. 2d 462, 470-471 (Fla. 1998); Ray v. State, 755 So.2d 604 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997). "Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court." White v. State, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002); Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053, n.2 (Fla. 2000); Huff v. State, 569 So.2d 1247 (Fla. 1990). The Appellee submits that the Appellant has not demonstrated an abuse of discretion in the instant case.

Miller did timely and repeatedly object to any of the witness's mentioning that these crimes occurred on Easter. In orienting the jury to the time and date of the offenses, the State mentioned once during opening and closing arguments that the day was Easter. The defense objected on the grounds that it was unduly

prejudicial and a non-statutory aggravator and moved for a mistrial which the court denied. (T: 599-600) The prosecutor stated that the day was relevant in order to explain the number and movement of the people in the neighborhood. Jackson mentioned it as how he remembered the day and explained how he had guests, when they left, and how he was in the kitchen so long cleaning up. (T:685-87) Sutherland mentioned it once, again grounding the day and explaining why he had guest, walked them to their cars, knew the time, and so forth. Chris Smith also mentioned it once, explaining why his mother had been over for a brunch at his house. (T: 722) MacKenzie explained she was in the neighborhood to have Easter dinner with her mother. (T: 852) The final person to mention the day was Miller himself. During his statement, he told the detectives that he made the decision to rob Smith and walked over to her house on Easter. (T: 1136) Clearly, Miller, like the other witnesses, remembered and placed the day by the fact that it was named date; thus, it was relevant to explain both the events and the individuals' memories. No emotional outbursts or arguments were made over the fact that it was Easter. Miller was not prejudiced by these isolated mentions of the holiday. He has failed to show prejudice.

Chris Smith mentioned once that he was attorney. (T: 717) As the court noted, a party may elicit the occupation along with other basic facts about a witness. The fact that he was a lawyer was not argued nor mentioned as evidence of Miller's guilt. Also, contrary to Miller's assertions that a sizeable portion of the population holds lawyers in high esteem, the number and variety of hostile and negative lawyer jokes presents another opinion. Again, Miller has failed to show prejudice.

A ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard. Smith v. State, 866 So.2d 51, 58-59 (Fla. 2004); Anderson v. State, 841 So.2d 390 (Fla. 2002); Smithers v. State, 826 So. 2d 916, 930 (Fla. 2002); Gore v. State, 784 So.2d 418, 427 (Fla. 2001). A motion for mistrial should be granted only when necessary to ensure the defendant receives a fair trial. See Goodwin v. State, 751 So.2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999). "A motion for a mistrial should only be granted when an error is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." England v. State, 940 So.2d 389, 401-2 (Fla.2006); see Hamilton v. State, 703 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla.1997) ("A mistrial is appropriate only where the error is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial."). Under the abuse of discretion standard, a trial court's ruling will be upheld unless the "judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable.... [D]iscretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053 n. 2 (Fla.2000) (second alteration in original) (quoting Huff v. State, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla.1990)). Thus, Miller is entitled to a new trial only if these isolated mentions of Easter and the one mention that Chris Smith was an attorney deprived

him of a fair and impartial trial, materially contributed to the conviction, were so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or were so inflammatory that it might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise. <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla.1994).

A "criminal takes his victim as he finds him." Brate v. State, 469 So.2d 790, 795 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Maynard v. State, 660 So.2d 293, 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). Unless the fact is used to evoke sympathy, its existence does not render it inadmissible. This Court in Muehleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310, 317 (Fla. 1987), deemed a reference to the victim as a "feeble, sickly, 97-year-old man" could tend to excite the jury's passion but such were "the horrible facts of what occurred." Similarly, gruesome photographs do not inherently create undue prejudice by inflaming the emotions of a jury. Defendants "should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments." Henderson v. State, 463 So.2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985). Miller is stuck with the fact that the crimes occurred on Easter. Neither the State nor any of the witnesses used that fact to appeal to the sympathy or emotions of the jury. It was merely the day of the events. Likewise, the one mention that a witness was an attorney in no way implied Miller's guilt. The quality and quantity of evidence refutes any claim the few references complained of caused the conviction or death recommendation. The trial court properly admitted the evidence and denied the motions for mistrial.

Even if this Court finds that the trial court should not have allowed the testimony detailed above, any error was harmless. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d at 1139. "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." <u>Id.</u>; <u>Hamilton</u>, 547 So.2d 630. There was overwhelming evidence of Miller's guilt. Dempsey testified about how and where Miller met Smith. He told about Smith's jewelry and memory problems and how Miller wished to rob her. Miller left on his own Sunday morning after he tried to get Dempsey to help him. Miller called him later that night to pick him up. When Dempsey arrived, he saw Miller's cuts. Miller later told him that everything went wrong and that he had to stop a hero. Miller also repeatedly warned him not to say anything to the police. (T: 863-914)

Haydon saw Miller in Smith house struggling with her. Miller attacked and stabbed him before following Smith out the back. Smith showed up moments later at her neighbor's house, stabbed and covered in blood. (T: 621-673) Miller left his crack pipe, fingerprints, and blood in Smith's house. (T: 937, 961, 1039, 1057, 1062) Ramee saw a man rushing oddly through the park just after the time of the crime. (T: 916-923) Miller left Smith's jacket in Prange's house after leaving shortly after the crime. (T: 845-49, 1004-21) The police found his knife sheath in the park. (T: 925) Smith's body had defensive cuts and bruising on it as well as

bruising from where her jewelry had been pulled at. (T: 1082-1114) Given the amount of evidence against Miller, any error in admitting his statement was harmless. Additionally, as shown above, the details of the planning and the execution of these crimes were provided in substantial part by other witnesses. In his statement, Miller was self-serving, trying to minimize his culpability when describing how he tried to take her jewelry and then how he stabbed both Haydon and Smith were. Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should affirm.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED TESTIMONY CONCERNING THE FACTS BEHIND MILLER'S PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY CONVICTIONS.

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